A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erroneously admitted Mr. Ivie's involuntary

statement to officers in violation of the Due Process Clause of the

Fourteenth Amendment.

2. Jury misconduct deprived Mr. Ivie of a fair trial.

3. Mr. Ivie's sentencing was unconstitutional because the State

failed to prove prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence.

4. The trial court failed to meet the requirement of filing written

CrR 3.5 Findings of Fact, where the prosecutor as prevailing party

neglected to draft proposed findings or present them to the court

following the hearing, as required by the Rule.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A defendant's statement may only be used at trial if it was

given voluntarily. When questioned by detectives, Mr. Ivie had just

undergone surgery and was still under the influence of narcotic pain

medications. Was Mr. Ivie's statement a product of rational intellect

and free will?

2. A defendant has the right to a fair trial and this right includes

an impartial jury. Actions of an individual juror that rise to the level of

jury misconduct may deny the defendant a fair trial in violation of

1



Article I, section 22 and the Sixth Amendment. During deliberations

the jury foreperson intimidated and bullied other jurors and failed to

pass juror inquiries on to the court. Where the jury foreperson bullies

other jurors and fails to ask questions of the court when there is

confusion over the law does that conduct deny Mr. Ivie a fair trial?

3. Due process requires that the State prove a defendant's prior

convictions for use at sentencing by a preponderance of the evidence.

Simple assertions unsupported by evidence are not sufficient to prove

prior convictions. Where there is no production of evidence

documenting prior convictions can the sentencing be held

constitutional?

4. CrR 3.5 requires a filing of written findings of fact following

a ruling on the voluntariness of defendant's statement. Whether the

failure to file written CrR 3.5 findings of fact independently requires

reversal, where the trial court did not issue an adequate oral ruling on

the question of the voluntariness of defendant's statement?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Ivie was convicted of one count of theft in the second

degree, one count of attempting to elude, one count of assault in the

third degree, and two counts of assault in the first degree. CP 38 -47.
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The incident leading to his arrest arose from a timber theft. 6/27/12RP

57, 63, 72. The area of the theft is remote and between 15 and 60

minutes from Shelton, the nearest town. 6/27/12RP 76. On February

9, 2012, Deputy Reed, investigating possible wood theft, kept watch on

the area with the use of night- vision goggles. 6/27/12RP 68 -70, 73 -74.

At approximately 8:00pm a pick up arrived and a person Deputy

Reed later identified as Mr. Ivie exited the vehicle. 6/27/12RP 76. The

two men had multiple contacts with one another in the past. 6/27/12RP

123; 7/3/12RP 584. In response to Deputy Reed's request for back up,

Sergeant Adams responded. 6/27/12RP 78. Deputy Reed watched Mr.

Ivie for approximately 25 minutes but did not see him use a chainsaw.

6/27/12RP 76, 119, 125. Deputy Reed testified that he confronted Mr.

Ivie, who appeared agitated and failed to heed the deputy's instructions.

6/27/12RP 81 -82. Mr. Ivie got into his vehicle and drove off.'

6/27/12RP 83.

The incident continued to devolve and resulted in Sergeant

Adams firing eight shots, of which at least 4 of hit Mr. Ivie and one hit

Mr. Ivie testified at trial that he simply wanted to take his dog home, as he
feared he would be taken to the pound if Mr. Ivie were indeed arrested. 7/3/12RP 585.

1. 2 Mr. Ivie requested a new attorney following the conclusion of trial, but prior to
the hearing on his motion for a new trial and sentencing original defense counsel James
Foley was allowed to withdraw. The court appointed Charles Lane in his absence.
CP34; 8/3/2012RP 797 -803.

3 Mr. Ivie filed a subsequent Motion for a New Trial on October 12, 2012
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his dog Shane. 6/29/12RP 485 -86. Mr. Ivie was taken first to Mason

General County Hospital and then transferred to Tacoma General

Hospital, where he underwent surgery for the bullet wounds. 7/3/12RP

644. Detective Simper and Sergeant Breen tools his statement while

Mr. Ivie was still in the hospital on the morning of February 10, 2012.

6/29/12RP 502.

Mr. Ivie objected to admission of his statement contending it

was involuntary. 4/2/12RP 2. During a pretrial hearing, Detective

Simper testified he knew Mr. Ivie had been shot, was in the hospital,

and had undergone surgery recently prior to conducting the interview.

6/29/12RP 502. When Simper advised Mr. Ivie of his Miranda rights,

Mr. Ivie invoked his right to his attorney. The two detectives then left

the room. 6/29/12RP 505 -507. Mr. Ivie called for the detectives to

return to the room to speak with him. 6/29/12RP 507; 7/2/12RP 529.

They proceeded to interrogate Mr. Ivie recording his statement. Id.

Neither officer inquired as to how long Mr. Ivie had been out of

surgery or what medications he was being given but both officers

believed that Mr. Ivie was not intoxicated. 6/29/12RP 511, 514 -15;

7/2/12RP 533 -534, 542. Breen did note that at the beginning of the
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interview Mr. Ivie had his eyes closed and they had to ask him to open

them. 7/2/12RP 557.

Mr. Ivie testified that he only vaguely remembered speaking

with the detectives. 7/2/12RP 543. He was unclear as to how many

times exactly he had been shot and had no memory of being transferred

from Mason County General Hospital to Tacoma General. 7/2/12RP

543 -544. After listening to the taped interview, Mr. Ivie believed he

sounded as if he was under the influence of narcotics. Id. He testified

to being dosed with morphine and Oxycontin. 7/2/12RP 552. He

remembered the detectives telling him they were there to investigate a

wrongful shooting. The majority of his statement was "cloudy" and he

was "pretty drugged up" and had a concussion. 7/2/12RP 546. Mr.

Ivie never received physical therapy while at Tacoma General but prior

to giving his statement he was up and walking, in part to prevent

pneumonia. Id. The court noted that Mr. Ivie was slurring at the

beginning of the taped interview. The court ruled that Mr. Ivie's

statement was voluntary and available for impeachment purposes.

7/2/12RP 567 -69. The court did not file written findings of fact.

The jury convicted Mr. Ivic on all counts. CP 38 -47. The jury

was polled and all jurors answered affirmatively. Id. at 792 -793. This

z



included Juror 4, Marjorie Steinke. Id. at 792. Four days later, Ms.

Steinke contacted Mr. Ivie's trial counsel and advised him that

foreperson of the jury refused to send out questions to the court during

deliberations, that she had serious concerns about the law and this left

her without enough information to reach a proper verdiet. CP36 -37.

Mr. Ivie filed Motion for a New Trial on July 12, 2012. Id. Ms.

Steinke submitted a declaration stating she "did not believe Mr. Ivie

committed the First Degree Assault against Deputies Reed and

Adams." Id. She continued:

The foreperson was very pushy. She made comments during
deliberation to the effect of "after all, he is a thief and a liar" and
she made up her mind that Mr. Ivie was guilty early on in
deliberation. She did not want to submit questions to the bailiff
to be answered by the court and left so many questions
unanswered.... Even though I had questions about that rule, I
knew that the lead juror would not ask them.

Id.

Mr. Ivie argued that the foreperson actions were misconduct and

that they removed the mechanism for the jurors to make inquiries of the

court. 11/9/2012RP 810 -11. The foreperson's conduct caused

2 Mr. Ivie requested a new attorney following the conclusion of trial, but prior to
the hearing on his motion for a new trial and sentencing original defense counsel James
Foley was allowed to withdraw. The court appointed Charles Lane in his absence.
CP34; 8/3/2012RP 797 -803.

3 Mr. Ivie filed a subsequent Motion for a New Trial on October 12, 2012
following Mr. Lane's appointment. CP 31 -33.

m



confusion, which impacted the verdict and prejudiced Mr. Ivie. Id.

811. The court ruled that this behavior did not rise to the level ofjury

misconduct and inhered in the verdict. Id. at 821 -23.

Mr. Ivie's prior convictions were listed during his sentencing

hearing but there is no record of any other evidence to support the

statements made by the State. 11/13/12 RP 827 -30, 834 -36. The State

offered that Mr. Ivie had a prior felony conviction for malicious

mischief in the second degree in Mason County Superior Court for

which he was sentenced on April 11, 2005. 11/13/12 RP 828. This

unproven conviction gave Mr. Ivie an offender score of 5 as to Count I,

theft in the second degree. Id. As to Count III and VI, both assaults in

the first degree, one would have an offender score of 4, and the other of

0. Count V, assault in the third degree carried an offender score of 5.

11 /13 /12RP 829. The court sentenced Mr. Ivie to a total of 222 months

of incarceration. 11 /13 /12RP 835.

4 The State also recited numerous prior misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor
convictions that did not impact Mr. Ivie's offender score. 11/13/12 RP 828,
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R ARGUMENT

1. The admission of his involuntary statement deprived Mr.
Ivie of his right to due process.

a. The due process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments protects against compelled evidence

The use of an involuntary statement in a criminal trial for any

purpose is a denial of due process of law. Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S.

368, 84 S. Ct. 1774, 12 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1968); U.S. Const. amends., V,

XIV; Const, art. I, §§ 3, 9. This fundamental protection stems from a

strongly felt attitude of our society that important human values are

sacrificed where an agency of the government, in the course of securing

a conviction, wrings a confession out of an accused against his will."

Blackburn v. Alabama, 361 U.S. 199, 206 -207, 80 S. Ct. 274, 4

L.Ed.2d 242 (1960). The coercion used by a state agency need not be

physical as, "the blood of the accused is not the only hallmark of an

unconstitutional inquisition," Jackson v, Denno, 378 U.S. 368 at 389,

s "...nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself,
nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law..." U.S. Const.
amend., V. "...nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without
due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of
the laws..." U.S, Const. amend, XIV. "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or
property, without due process of law." Const. art. I § 3. "No person shall be compelled
in any criminal case to give evidence against himself, or be twice put in jeopardy for the
same offense." Const. art. I § 9.



Numerous cases have demonstrated that government compulsion can

be mental well as physical.

The detectives questioned Mr. Ivie after he had undergone

surgery for law enforcement inflicted gunshot wounds. He was under

the influence of narcotics. 7/2/12RP 552. Therefore his statement to

Detective Simper and Sergeant Breen was not a "product of rational

intellect and a free will." Townsend v. Sain, 372 U.S. 293, 307, 83 S.

Ct. 745, 9 L Ed. 2d 770 (1963) quoting Blackburn v. Alabama, 361

U.S. 199 at 208. It was involuntary and should not have been admitted

for any purpose.

b. Mr. Ivie's statement was not made voluntarily when
considered under a totality of the circumstances analysis

The Supreme Court stated that "it is hard to imagine a situation

less conducive to the exercise of a r̀ational intellect and free will "'

than that of someone who has been "seriously wounded just a few

hours" prior to being questioned by police. Mincey v. Arizona, 437

U.S. 385, 398, 98 S. Ct. 2408, 57 L. Ed. 2d 290 (1978). Much like the

petitioner in Mincey, Mr. Ivie was questioned in the hospital, after

G See Gallegos v. Colorado, 370 U.S. 49, 82 S. Ct. 1209, 8 L.Ed.2d 325 (1962);
Culombe v, Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 81 S. Ct. 1860, 6 L.Ed.2d 1037 (1961); Spano v.
New York, 360 U.S. 315, 79 S. Ct. 1202.
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being shot at least four times on a remote, mountainous dirt road.

6/27/12RP 76. Mr. Ivie had no memory of being transported to Mason

County General Hospital or subsequently being transferred to Tacoma

General. 7/3/12RP 644. Following surgery for gunshot wounds, two

officers questioned Mr. Ivie regarding the incident surrounding his

arrest. 6/29/12RP 502.

The voluntariness of a statement is determined under a totality

of the circumstances analysis and should include factors such as

defendant's physical condition, age, mental abilities, experiences and

police conduct." State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 679, 692, 683 P.2d

571 (1984). Although not definitive, a defendant's drug use should

also be considered. State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 664, 927 P.2d 210

1996). In applying these factors to Mr. Ivie's statement it is clear that

the trial court was erroneous in finding it voluntary.

Mr. Ivie was in poor physical condition following surgery.

7/2/12RP 546. Mr. Ivie was not confined to a bed but hospital staff

dictated any mobilization on his part in attempts to prevent pneumonia.

Id. Mr. Ivie had been prescribed opiate painkillers, including morphine

and felt like he was in a dream state, 7/2/12RP 552. The officers

testified that Mr. Ivie did not appear to be under the influence of drugs
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but neither were medical professionals fully equipped to comment on

Mr. Ivie's physical condition. 6/29/12RP 511; 7/2/12RP 533.

Mr. Ivie was questioned by two officers while in the hospital,

under the influence of narcotics, very close in time to having undergone

surgery and he remembers very little of the statement he provided.

Like in Mincey the situation as a whole demonstrates the

involuntariness of Mr. Ivie's statement to police, which would require

it be excluded at trial.

c. Mr. Ivie's conviction must be reversed

A constitutional error requires reversal of a conviction unless

the State can demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did

not contribute to the conviction. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18,

24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d

713, 724, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). The use of an involuntary statement is

always unconstitutional. Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368. Mr. Ivie

was impeached with a statement he barely remembers malting and this

resulted in a severe prejudice against him. 7/2/12RP 543; 567 -69. Mr.

Ivie's statement to police following surgery and under the influence of

pain medication was not voluntary and therefore his convictions were

unconstitutional and must be reversed.
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2. Jury misconduct deprived Mr. Ivie of due process.

a. The right to an impartial jury is a fundamental right

A criminal defendant's right to a fair trial is fundamental. U.S. Const.

amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S.

501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed.2d 126 (1976). This right includes

the right to an unbiased jury and a trial unburdened by jury misconduct.

Smith v. Kent, 11 Wn, App. 439, 443, 523 P.2d 446 (1974). Prejudice

to the defendant and "a strong affirmative showing of misconduct is

necessary" and to prove that this fundamental right has been violated

and to provide "stable and certain verdicts." State v. Balisok, 123

Wn.2d 114, 117 -118, 866 P.2d 631 (1994). However, once

demonstrated a new trial is warranted. State v. Earl, 142 Wn. App.

768, 774, 177 P.3d 132 (2008).

b. The foreperson's failure to transmit questions of law to the
court violated Mr. Ivie's due process rights

In evaluating an accusation ofjuror misconduct the court may

only hear factual information regarding the misconduct. State v.

7 "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and
public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have
been committed..." U.S. Const, amend, VI. "The right to trial by jury shall remain
inviolate." Const. art, I, § 21. "...to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the
county in which the offense is charged to have been committed and the right to appeal in
all cases..." Const, art, I, § 22.
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Marks, 90 Wn. App. 980, 986, 955 P.2d 406 (1998.) Ms. Steinke's

declaration addresses the misconduct directly. CP 28 -29. A person

alleging misconduct has the burden to show that such misconduct

occurred. State v. Earl, 142 Wn. App. at 774. Mr. Ivie meets this

burden.

Ms. Steinke provided evidence that she was confused as to the

law and that she knew that the jury foreperson would not ask questions

to the court on behalf of the jury. CP 28. Despite believing that Mr.

Ivie was not guilty of the two counts of first- degree assault she felt that

she had no choice but to change her vote and to say she thought Mr.

Ivie was indeed guilty. Id. The foreperson's actions were a "strong,

affirmative showing of misconduct." State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at

117.

There was also evidence presented as to the foreperson's

inherent bias, that she felt Mr. Ivie was a "thief and a liar." Id. This

bias violated Mr. Ivie's right to due process. Smith v. Kent, 11 Wn.

App. at 443.

c. Mr. Ivie's conviction must be reversed

In a criminal proceeding a new trial is necessary only when the

defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can
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e]nsure that the defendant will be treated fairly. "' State v. Reynoldson,

168 Wn. App. at 543, 547, 277 P.3d 700 (2012) (quoting State v.

Chanthabouly, 164 Wn. App. 104, 140, 262 P.3d 144 (2011)). Jury

misconduct that prejudices the defendant by directly impacting the

verdict rises to this level and Mr. Ivie's convictions should be reversed.

3. The State failed to meet its burden of proving Mr.
Ivie's prior convictions by a preponderance of the
evidence for purposes of sentencing.

a. The failure to prove prior convictions is a violation of a
defendant's due process right

Under RCW9.94A.530(2) a court "may rely on no more

information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted,

acknowledged, or proved in a trial or at the time of sentencing." This is

rooted in the defendant's right to due process. U.S. Const. amend.,

XIV; Const. art. I, §3. Case law has long upheld that the state has the

burden to prove prior convictions at sentencing by a preponderance of

the evidence. State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 473, 480, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).

This burden is not met by simple assertions made by prosecutors

during sentencing and some type support evidence must be introduced.

State v. Lopez, 147 Wn.2d 515, 523, 55 P.3d 609 (2002); Ford, 137

Wn.2d at 480. This was reaffirmed by the Supreme Court in State v.

Hunley despite an attempt by the legislature to change the RCW

14



9:94A.500(1) and .530(2) to shift the prosecutor's burden ofproving

prior convictions. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 909, 917, 287 P.3d 584

2012). The State made a declaration that Mr. Ivie had a prior felony

conviction for malicious mischief in the second degree but provided no

documentation to prove such a prior. 11/13/12 RP 828.

b. The State made no showing as to Mr. Ivie's prior conviction
at sentencing

The State's burden is not "overly difficult" to meet but they

must introduce some supporting evidence. Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 480.

Although the best evidence of prior convictions is a certified copy of a

past judgment, other documents maybe introduced. Hunley, 175

Wn.2d at 910. Documents such as a certified copy of a docket sheet

showing a guilty plea or DISCIS criminal history are also sufficient as

long as they are "official government records, based on information

obtained directly from the courts." Id. at 910 -11, quoting State v.

Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 120-2159 P.3d 58 (2002). Although the State

recited Mr. Ivie's prior convictions during the sentencing hearing there

is no record of any other evidence to support the State's assertions.

11/13/12 RP 827 -30, 834 -36. Thus, the State did not meet its burden of

proving the existence of Mr. Ivie's prior convictions.
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c. This case must be remanded to the sentencing court to ensure
the State meets its burden.

The State must uphold its burden to prove the defendant's prior

convictions at sentencing, when it fails to do so a defendant's

constitutional right is violated. Mr. Ivie was prejudiced by increasing

his offender score based on the State's foundationless assertions. This

gave Mr. Ivie an offender score of 5 as to Count I, theft in the second

degree. 11/13/12 RP 828. As to Count III and VI, both assaults in the

first degree, one would have an offender score of 4, and the other of 0.

Count V, assault in the third degree carried an offender score of 5.

11 /13 /12RP 829. The court sentenced Mr. Ivie to a total of 222 months

of incarceration. 11 /13 /12RP 835.

The remedy for that violation is to remand the case back to the

sentencing court to ensure the State meets its burden. Mr. Ivie's case

must be remanded.

4. Reversal is independently required for the failure to file written
CrR 3.5 findings.

a. Either written findings of fact or adequate oral findings are
required following a CrR 3.5 hearing

CrR 3.5 requires the entry of written findings following a

suppression hearing, which must set forth the disputed and undisputed

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