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

While waiting for help to arrive, Deputy Reed watched the suspect for about 25 minutes while the suspect busily worked the music wood. I RP 77. When Deputy Reed saw the headlights of Sergeant Adams's patrol vehicle as it approached the scene, he then stepped out and confronted the suspect. I RP 77-79. Ivie looked up and faced Deputy Reed. I RP 80. Deputy Reed immediately recognized the suspect as Martin Ivie. I RP 79. Ivie was wearing a headlamp, and when he looked at Deputy Reed his

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II

i.

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 3 -

headlamp illuminated Deputy Reed, who was wearing a sheriff's uniform. I RP 80.

Deputy Reed drew his duty weapon (a pistol), pointed a flashlight at Ivie, and commanded him to show his hands and to get on the ground. I RP 81. Ivie, defying Deputy Reed's commands, threw down his hatchet and stomped back and forth, saying he doesn't get on the ground for any man, and then sat down on a stump. I RP 81. Ivie became agitated and began flopping his arms around and saying "you finally caught me." I RP 81.

While Deputy Reed was still squared off alone with him, Ivie jumped in his truck and fled the scene, nearly running over Deputy Reed's feet as he sped away. I RP 83. Deputy Reed could still see the headlights of Sergeant Adams's approaching vehicle, so he radioed to Sergeant Adams and let him know that Ivie was heading toward him. I RP 83.

As Ivie fled the scene, he drove toward Sergeant Adams's approaching vehicle, but when he was confronted by the vehicle, he turned around and drove back in the direction of Deputy Reed. I RP 87; II RP 293-97. As Sergeant Adams, with his emergency lights activated, pursued Ivie, Deputy Reed stood on the road with his flashlight illuminated in an

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext, 417

- 4 -

attempt to stop Ivie, but Ivie, refusing to stop, drove straight at Deputy Reed, and Deputy Reed had to dive away to avoid being run over by Ivie. I RP 88-93.

From this point on, as deputies chased Ivie around the dark mountain, an escalating series of events took place that culminated with Ivie getting shot. I RP 102. At one point during the chase, Ivie intentionally accelerated in reverse, driving his pickup into Sergeant Adams's pursuing patrol vehicle, and then put his pickup back into forward gear and continued to flee. II RP 302-04.

Eventually both Ivie and Sergeant Adams arrived at a dead end up the side of the mountain; so, Sergeant Adams got out of his patrol vehicle and took up a defensive position. II RP 305-07. Ivie looked at Sergeant Adams and accelerated straight toward him. II RP 307, 312. In reaction, Sergeant Adams fled for cover while firing several rounds from his rifle. II RP 314-21. Ivie was shot several times. II RP 321. Sergeant Adams immediately performed first aid and saved Ivie's life. II RP 324.

Based upon these events, the State charged Ivie with several crimes, including theft in the second degree, attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, two counts of assault in the first degree, two

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 5 -

counts of assault in the second degree, and one count of assault in the third degree. CP 87-90. The jury returned guilty verdicts to each of the charges. CP 38-47.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. The totality of the circumstances shows that lvie's statement to police investigators was properly admitted at trial because Ivie gave the statement voluntarily.

About 16 hours after the shooting detectives contacted Ivie at the hospital, where he was recovering. II RP 347, III RP 502. Detectives asked Ivie to give a statement about the incident. III RP 504. Detectives read *Miranda* warnings to Ivie. III RP 504-05. Ivie asked for an attorney. III RP 506, 529. Detectives ended the statement and began to leave the room. III RP 506-07, 529.

As the detectives were leaving the room, Ivie yelled at them to come back. III RP 507, 529. As they were walking down the hall, Ivie called them back into the room and said that he'd changed his mind and wanted to give a statement. III RP 508, 529. He said that "he disliked cops, but hated attorneys even more." III RP 508. The detectives

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 6 -

reentered the room and began the interview again. III RP 509. The only reason detectives reentered the room is because Ivie called them back. III RP 540.

Before contacting Ivie, the detectives checked with hospital staff to make sure that Ivie could speak with them. III RP 527-28. Throughout the interview, Ivie was awake and alert. III RP 503, 513, 532. His answers to questions were responsive. III RP 511, 532, 540. Ivie at no point expressed any confusion or inability to understand. III RP 511, 532-33, 540. He did not appear to be under the influence of any drug. III RP 511, 513, 533-34. No one made any threats or promises to Ivie or took other action to coerce him to speak. III RP 512, 531.

At trial, the prosecution offered Ivie's statement as impeachment evidence to impeach his trial testimony. III RP 491-500; Ex. 96. The court held a hearing to determine whether Ivie's statement was voluntarily given. III RP 500-565. At the end of the hearing, the court ruled in an oral ruling that Ivie's statement was voluntarily given and that it was admissible for impeachment purposes. III RP 565-69.

When delivering its ruling, the court clarified that the issue it was deciding was whether Ivie's statement was coerced and whether he was

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 7 -

unable to understand what he was saving or doing when he gave the statement, III RP 566. The court found that: 1) the detectives checked with hospital staff and obtained clearance from them before interviewing Ivie; 2) Ivie initiated the interview by calling the detectives back into the room after they had left the room and were leaving because Ivie had told them that he wanted an attorney; 3) there was no evidence about the time or duration of surgery, but Ivie was up and walking when the detectives interviewed him; 4) Ivie slurred his words initially, but as the interview continued his voice became normal, and his responses and explanations appeared coherent; 5) Ivie "was able to understand the process and add his own thoughts to" the interview; 6) although Ivie testified that he was in and out of consciousness, the court's review of the audio tape of the interview does not support his testimony; 7) while Ivie may have been under the influence of some drug for pain, it was not the kind of influence that affected his ability to understand the detectives' questions or to give appropriately responsive answers, and his will was not overborne; and, 8) there was no testimony or other evidence to support an assertion that his will was overborne or coerced. III RP 566-69. Based upon the evidence, the court found that Ivie's statement was voluntary. III RP 569.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 8 -

After Ivie testified on direct examination, the prosecution on cross examination used Ivie's statement to the detectives (introduced as Exhibit 96) for impeachment. IV RP 601-03, 608 (referring to exhibit 4 of 19, but meaning page 4 of 19 pages), 613, 625-27, 629, 634-35, 639-42, 654-56.

The test for whether defendant's statement was voluntary for due process purposes is to determine whether the defendant's free will was overcome due to the conduct of law enforcement officers. *State v. Reuben*, 62 Wn. App. 620, 624, 814 P.2d 1177 (1991). The trial court's findings in this regard are verities and will not be disturbed on appeal if those findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record. *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). "Substantial evidence exists where there is a sufficient quantity of evidence in the record to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding." *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994).

Whether a confession is voluntary depends on the totality of the circumstances under which it was made. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 663–64, 927 P.2d 210 (1996). This examination includes considerations of the location, length, and continuity of the interrogation; the defendant's maturity, education, physical condition, and mental health; and whether

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 9 -

the police advised the defendant of his or her *Miranda* rights. *State v. Unga*, 165 Wn.2d 95, 101, 196 P.3d 645 (2008). If police tactics manipulated or prevented a defendant from making a rational, independent decision about giving a statement, the statement is inadmissible. *Unga*, 165 Wn.2d at 102.

There is no evidence in the instant case that detectives acted in any way inappropriately when contacting Ivie in the hospital. The evidence is substantial that Ivie's statement was an exercise of his own free will. Ivie was read *Miranda* rights at least twice. III RP 504-05, 509-10. Detectives left Ivie alone and were walking away when he yelled for them to come back because he wanted to give a statement. III RP 507, 529. Substantial evidence in the record shows that Ivie was alert, articulate, coherent, and in every way mentally capable of understanding what he was saying and doing and that he was fully capable of exercising his own free will. III RP 502-40.

Under the circumstances of the instant case, the trial court did not err when it allowed Ivie's statement to detectives to be used as impeachment evidence at trial. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 663–64, 927

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II

P.2d 210 (1996); *State v. Reuben*, 62 Wn. App. 620, 624, 814 P.2d 1177 (1991).

2. There was no juror misconduct in this case, and because the actions of the jury alleged by Ivie on appeal are matters inhering in the verdict of the jury, Ivie's allegations are not grounds to override the jury's verdict.

"As a general rule, appellate courts are reluctant to inquire into how a jury arrives at its verdict." *State v. Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117, 866 P.2d 631 (1994), citing *State v. Gay*, 82 Wash. 423, 439, 144 P. 711 (1914). Therefore, "[a] strong, affirmative showing of misconduct is necessary in order to overcome the policy favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury." *State v. Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117-18, 866 P.2d 631 (1994) (citations omitted).

In the instant case, the jury was polled and each juror individually and unanimously vouched for the verdicts. IV RP 791-94.

It is well established that matters inhering in a jury's verdict may not be used as a basis for granting a new trial. *State v. Jackman*, 113 Wn.2d 772, 777–78, 783 P.2d 580 (1989). See, e.g., *Id.* at 777 (affidavit

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 11 -

suggesting jurors improperly shortened deliberations could not be used to impeach verdict); State v. Standifer, 48 Wn. App. 121, 737 P.2d 1308, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1035 (1987) (trial court erred in granting new trial on basis of juror's letter expressing reasonable doubt about defendant's guilt); State v. McKenzie, 56 Wn.2d 897, 355 P.2d 834 (1960) (trial court erred in considering juror affidavit stating that one juror had argued law contrary to instructions); State v. Young, 48 Wn. App. 406, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987) (juror affidaits expressing confusion about meaning of court's instructions reflected thought process and could not be used to impeach verdict); State v. Duhaime, 29 Wn. App. 842, 631 P.2d 964, review denied, 97 Wn.2d 1009 (1981) (affidavit of juror who sought to rescind vote in guilt phase of death penalty case reflected thought process and therefore could not be used to impeach verdict); State v. Whipple, 124 Wash. 578, 215 P. 14 (1923) (affidavit indicating that 3 jurors misunderstood court's instructions and consented to verdict because of misunderstanding could not be used to impeach verdict).

> 3. The State alleged at sentencing that Ivie had a prior felony conviction that contributed one point to his offender score. The State did not present extrinsic proof of Ivie's prior conviction, but Ivie did not

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II

dispute his prior conviction and did not object to the calculation of his offender score. Because Ivie did not object or dispute his criminal history, the proper remedy is remand to the trial court, permitting the State to present additional evidence to prove the criminal history.

Following the jury's verdicts of guilty, the parties again appeared in court on November 13, 2012, for sentencing. At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor informed the court that Ivie had...

one prior felony conviction, which calculates as an offender point. And that is for a conviction for malicious mischief second degree out of this Court, committed on June 23, 2004 and sentenced on April the 11th, 2005.

IV RP 828. The judgment and sentence entered by the court shows this conviction. CP 6. No citation to the record was located where Ivie made any objection to calculation of his offender score or inclusion of his prior felony conviction. Neither was any citation to the record located where the State offered evidence to prove the prior conviction.

"The State bears the burden of proving the existence of prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Bergstrom*, 162 Wn.2d 87, 93, 169 P.3d 816 (2007), citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Cadwallader*, 155 Wn.2d 867, 876, 123 P.3d 456 (2005); *State v. Lopez*, 147 Wn.2d 515, 519, 55 P.3d 609 (2002). If the State does not present

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext, 417

- 13 -

proof of an offender's prior conviction at sentence but the offender did not specifically object to calculation of his or her offender score at the time of sentencing, but instead raises the issue for the first time on appeal, the proper remedy is to remand the case to the trial court and allow the State to present new evidence to prove the conviction. *State v. Bergstrom*, 162 Wn.2d 87, 93, 169 P.3d 816 (2007), citing *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 520, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).

4. The trial court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine the admissibility of Ivie's statement to police. The court made oral findings and conclusions and ruled the statement admissible, but the court did not enter required written findings. Because the record is sufficient to allow appellate review, however, the failure to enter written findings on the facts of the instant case is harmless.

Ivie's statement in the instant case was not offered as substantive evidence in the prosecution's case in chief. III RP 491-500. Instead, the statement was offered only as impeachment. III RP 491-500. But, irrespective of whether the statement is offered into evidence substantively or only for impeachment, before the statement is admitted into evidence the court is required to hold a hearing to determine whether the statement

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II

is admissible. CrR 3.5(a). Following the hearing, the court is required to enter written findings. CrR 3.5(c).

In the instant case, it appears that the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law were not reduced to writing after the hearing. Instead, the court delivered an oral ruling, which was apparently never reduced to writing, except to the extent that it was transcribed as a part of the verbatim report on appeal. III RP 565-569. Ivie asserts that the court's failure to supplement its oral ruling with written findings is reversible error. Br. of Appellant at 16-18. But Ivie does not show that he has suffered any actual prejudice from this error or that the transcript of the court's oral ruling is inadequate for him to obtain appellate review of the court's ruling.

In the instant case, the court's oral findings are adequate for Ivie to obtain appellate review. III RP 565-569. "[F]ailure to enter findings required by CrR 3.5 is considered harmless error if the court's oral findings are sufficient to permit appellate review." *State v. Cunningham*, 116 Wn. App. 219, 226, 65 P.3d 325 (2003), citing *State v. Smith*, 67 Wn. App. 81, 87, 834 P.2d 26 (1992), *aff'd*, 123 Wn.2d 51, 864 P.2d 1371 (1993); *State v. Bluehorse*, 159 Wn. App. 410, 422-23, 248 P.3d 537

State's Response Brief Case No. 44258-2-II

(2011). Error arising from the failure to enter written findings in the instant case, therefore, is harmless. *Id.*

5. The evidence at trial was sufficient to sustain the jury's findings that Ivie intentionally assaulted the victims in each of the counts of assault for which the jury returned guilty verdicts.

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